
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Holding a Criminal Term
Grand Jury Sworn in on November 3, 2006

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA : CRIMINAL NO.
:

v. : GRAND JURY ORIGINAL
:

CHARLES E. COUGHLIN and : VIOLATIONS:
SABRINA M. COUGHLIN, :

:
Defendants. : 18 U.S.C. § 1341 (Mail Fraud);

: 18 U.S.C. § 287 (False, Fictitious and
: Fraudulent Claims);
: 18 U.S.C. § 641 (Theft of Public Money);
: 18 U.S.C. § 2 (Aiding and Abetting and
: Causing an Act to be Done); 
: 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C);
: 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c) (Forfeiture 
: Allegation)

INDICTMENT

The Grand Jury charges that:

COUNTS ONE THROUGH FIVE
(Mail Fraud)

Introduction

At all times material to this Indictment:

1. On September 11, 2001, in a series of coordinated suicide attacks, terrorists

hijacked four commercial passenger jet airliners and intentionally crashed two of the airliners

into the World Trade Center in New York City and another into the Pentagon in Arlington,

Virginia.  The fourth plane crashed into a field near Shanksville, Pennsylvania after passengers

and members of the flight crew attempted to retake control of their plane.  
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2. Very shortly after the terrorist attacks, the United States Congress enacted the Air

Transportation Safety and System Stabilization Act, which was signed by President George W.

Bush on September 22, 2001.  As part of that legislation, Congress created the September 11th

Victim Compensation Fund of 2001 (“VCF”) to provide compensation with government funds to

any individual or relatives of a deceased individual who was physically injured or killed as a

result of the September 11th attacks.  The VCF was an administrative alternative to litigation for

victims of the terrorist attacks.

3. The United States Department of Justice, an agency of the United States of

America, was granted the authority to administer the VCF.  On November 26, 2001, the Attorney

General appointed a Special Master to determine eligibility and the amount of compensation. 

The Special Master promulgated, among other things, guidelines defining eligibility, a presumed

award methodology and procedures for the submission and presentation of claims.  

4. Defendant CHARLES E. COUGHLIN was in the United States Navy and was

stationed at the Pentagon, in Arlington, Virginia, on September 11, 2001.

5. Defendant SABRINA M. COUGHLIN was married to defendant CHARLES E.

COUGHLIN, and since approximately 1998, resided in the State of Maryland.

The Scheme

6. From in or about December 2003, and continuing until in or about June 2004,

within the District of Columbia and elsewhere, defendant CHARLES E. COUGHLIN willfully

and knowingly devised, and intended to devise, a scheme and artifice to defraud the VCF and to

obtain money by means of false and fraudulent pretenses and representations.
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7. A goal of the scheme and artifice to defraud was for defendants CHARLES E.

COUGHLIN and SABRINA M. COUGHLIN to enrich themselves by making repeated false

claims to the VCF.

8.  It was part of the scheme that on or about December 19, 2003, defendant

CHARLES E. COUGHLIN initiated a claim for damages with the VCF falsely claiming that he

suffered a partial permanent disability from the September 11, 2001 attack on the Pentagon,

knowing full well that this application contained both false and misleading information.  In this

application, defendant CHARLES E. COUGHLIN lifted a medical opinion from a letter written

by his primary physician regarding a 1998 neck injury, as if the injury occurred on September 11,

2001.

9. It was a further part of the scheme that from in or about January 2004 to in or

about May 2004, defendant CHARLES E. COUGHLIN prepared testimonial letters in support

of his VCF application for others to sign and submit as their own to the VCF Special Master,

knowing full well that these letters contained false and misleading information.

10. It was a further part of the scheme that on or about January 22, 2004 and on or

about February 3, 2004, defendant CHARLES E. COUGHLIN supplemented and caused others

known to the grand jury to supplement his VCF application by providing false and misleading

information regarding his pre-September 11  and post-September 11  medical condition.  In thisth th

supplemental filing, defendant CHARLES E. COUGHLIN and others falsely represented that

his primary physician authored a report finding defendant CHARLES E. COUGHLIN suffered

a permanent disability due to the alleged injuries he sustained on September 11, 2001.   
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11. It was a further part of the scheme that on or about January 22, 2004 and on or

about February 20, 2004, defendant CHARLES E. COUGHLIN caused incomplete medical

records to be submitted to the VCF.

12. It was a further part of the scheme that after being deemed ineligible for VCF

benefits and having his application denied, on or about February 17, 2004, defendant CHARLES

E. COUGHLIN caused an appeal to be filed challenging the determination that he was ineligible

for VCF benefits.    

13. It was a further part of the scheme that on or about March 9, 2004, defendant

CHARLES E. COUGHLIN caused additional materials to be submitted to the VCF, including a

letter from a physician who relied upon defendant CHARLES E. COUGHLIN’s false

representations regarding his alleged post-September 11  sedentary lifestyle and claimed lack ofth

available medical records which would have revealed a more extensive pre-existing neck and

shoulder ailment.

14 . It was a further part of the scheme that after the VCF reversed its earlier decision,

and ruled that defendant CHARLES E. COUGHLIN was eligible for benefits, offering a

presumed award of $60,000, defendant CHARLES E. COUGHLIN rejected the offer as too

little money.

15. It was a further part of the scheme that on or about May 13, 2004, in the District

of Columbia, defendants CHARLES E. COUGHLIN and SABRINA M. COUGHLIN

testified at a hearing, requested by defendant CHARLES E. COUGHLIN, falsely describing the

extent of defendant CHARLES E. COUGHLIN’s physical activities before and after September

11, 2001. 
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16. It was a further part of the scheme that on or about May 13, 2004, in the District

of Columbia, defendant CHARLES E. COUGHLIN caused to be submitted altered and

manufactured copies of checks falsely claiming that they represented payments to others for

performing household activities, which defendant CHARLES E. COUGHLIN asserted he was

no longer able to perform because of the injuries he sustained on September 11, 2001.

17. It was a further part of the scheme that on or about May 13, 2004, in the District

of Columbia, defendant CHARLES E. COUGHLIN caused to be submitted a letter from his

employer and schedules relating to losses of past earnings, knowing full well that such losses had

not been incurred.

18. It was a further part of the scheme that on or about June 2, 2004, based on the

false and misleading information presented by defendant CHARLES E. COUGHLIN, the VCF

awarded $331,034 in damages as compensation to defendant CHARLES E. COUGHLIN for

injuries purportedly sustained on September 11, 2001 at the Pentagon. 

Use of the U.S. Mails and Commercial Interstate Carrier

19. On or about the dates set forth below, within the District of Columbia and

elsewhere, defendant CHARLES E. COUGHLIN, for the purposes of executing and attempting

to execute the above-described scheme to defraud and for obtaining money by false and

fraudulent pretenses and representations, did knowingly cause to be delivered by the U.S. Postal

Service or commercial interstate carrier as set forth below, to and from the addresses listed

below, mail matter and items described below:
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COUNT DATE CARRIER ADDRESSED TO DESCRIPTION

ONE 2/3/04 U.S. Postal Service 1900 K Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C.

Letter, dated 2/3/04

Corrected letter, dated
1/22/04

TWO 2/17/04 Federal Express 1900 K Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C.

Letter, dated 2/17/04

Eligibility Appeal Form

Pre-Hearing
Questionnaire

THREE 2/20/04 U.S. Postal Service 1900 K Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C.

Letter, dated 2/20/04

Copies of Medical
Records 

FOUR 3/9/04 Federal Express 1900 K Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C.

Letter, dated 3/9/04

Letter from K.B., dated
2/17/04

Letter from R.R., dated
2/18/04

Letter from R.S., undated 

Email Chain, dated
9/19/01 and 9/20/01 

FIVE 4/30/04 Federal Express 1900 K Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C.

Letter, dated 4/30/04

Claimant Presumed
Award 

(Mail Fraud, and Aiding and Abetting and Causing an Act to be
Done, in Violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 2)
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COUNT SIX
(False, Fictitious and Fraudulent Claims)

20. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 18 of this Indictment are

realleged and incorporated by reference herein.

21. From in or about December 2003, through in or about June 2004, in the District of

Columbia and elsewhere, defendant CHARLES E. COUGHLIN willfully and knowingly did

make, present, and cause to be made and presented to the United States Department of Justice

September 11  VCF, a department or agency of the United States, a claim upon and against theth

United States Department of Justice September 11  VCF, well knowing such claim to be false,th

fictitious and fraudulent, in that defendant CHARLES E. COUGHLIN submitted a claim for

compensation for alleged injuries sustained by defendant CHARLES E. COUGHLIN during

the terrorist attack on the Pentagon on September 11, 2001 that contained false and fraudulent

assertions concerning defendant CHARLES E. COUGHLIN’s medical condition and physical

abilities before and after September 11, 2001, and false and fraudulent assertions concerning

alleged economic losses resulting from those injures, which defendant CHARLES E.

COUGHLIN knew to be false, fictitious and fraudulent. 

(False, Fictitious and Fraudulent Claims, and Aiding and Abetting and Causing
an Act to be Done, in Violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 287 and 2)

COUNT SEVEN
(Theft of Public Money)

22. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 18 of this Indictment are

realleged and incorporated by reference herein.
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23. From in or about December 2003, through in or about June 2004, in the District of

Columbia and elsewhere, defendants CHARLES E. COUGHLIN and SABRINA M.

COUGHLIN unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly, did embezzle, steal, purloin, and convert to

their use and the use of another, and without authority, did sell, convey and dispose of any

record, voucher, money, and thing of value exceeding $1,000 of the United States and of any

department or agency thereof, to wit, they obtained approximately $331,034 from the United

States Department of Justice September 11  VCF based, in part, on false, fraudulent andth

misleading documentary and testimonial representations concerning defendant CHARLES E.

COUGHLIN’s physical condition before and after September 11, 2001, and the economic

damages defendants CHARLES E. COUGHLIN and SABRINA M. COUGHLIN had already

incurred and anticipated incurring as a result of the injuries defendant CHARLES E.

COUGHLIN purportedly sustained on September 11, 2001 at the Pentagon. 

(Theft of Public Money, and Aiding and Abetting and Causing an Act to be
Done, in Violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 641 and 2)

FORFEITURE ALLEGATION AS TO COUNTS 
ONE THROUGH FIVE AND SEVEN

24.     The violations alleged in Counts One through Five and Seven of this Indictment are

realleged and incorporated by reference for the purpose of alleging forfeiture to the United States

of America pursuant to the provisions of Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and 

Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c).

25.      As a result of the violations alleged in Counts One through Five and Seven of this

Indictment, the defendants CHARLES E. COUGLIN and SABRINA M. COUGHLIN shall
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forfeit to the United States any property, real or personal, involved in such violations, which

constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to such violations including, but not limited to:

Money Judgment

$331,034.00 which represents the sum of money equal to the total amount of
money constituting, or derived from, proceeds obtained, directly or indirectly, as a
result of a mail fraud scheme, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1341, and theft of public
money, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 641. 

Real Property

340 St. Bees Drive, Severna Park, MD 21146.

Personal Property 

2002 Mercedes Benz C230, VIN:  WDBRN47J12A351025, registered to Charles
E. Coughlin and Sabrina M. Coughlin; and 

2002 Honda Odyssey, VIN: 2HKRL18722H569749, registered to Charles E.
Coughlin and Sabrina M. Coughlin.

 
By virtue of the commission of the felony offenses charged in Counts One through Five and

Seven of this Indictment, any and all interest that the defendants have in the property

constituting, or derived from, proceeds obtained directly or indirectly, as the result of such

offenses is vested in the United States and hereby forfeited to the United States pursuant to Title

18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c). 

If,  as a result of any act or omission of the defendants, the property identified above:

a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;
b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third person;
c. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court;
d. has been substantially diminished in value; or 
e. has been commingled with other property that cannot be subdivided without

difficulty;
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it is the intention of the United States, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section

981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c), and incorporating by reference

Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), to seek forfeiture of any other property of said

defendants up to the value of said property listed above as being subject to forfeiture.

(Criminal Forfeiture, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C)
and Title 28 United States Code, Section 2461(c)). 

 A TRUE BILL:

FOREPERSON

ATTORNEY OF THE UNITED STATES IN
AND FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
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